RECEIVED

Aug 10 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000801

Daniel O'Shields And Roger W. Whitley,
A Partnership d/b/a O&W Cars,

Appellants,

v.

Columbia Automotive Company, LLC
d/b/a Midlands Honda,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Brooks R. Fudenberg
LAW OFFICES OF BROOKS R.
FUDENBERG, LLC
14 Ashe Street
Charleston, SC 29403
Tel.: (843) 696-8911
BRF@Fudenberglaw.com

C. Steven Moskos
C. STEVEN MOSKOS, P.A.
6650 Rivers Ave., Ste 210
N. Charleston, SC 29406
Tel. (843) 763-5297
Steve@moskoslawfirm.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The circuit court's denial of all attorney fees incurred after September 14, 2016 was affirmed, based on a post-verdict settlement offer made on that date. On remand, the circuit court denied all fees incurred after the end of trial on April 22, 2016, without any explanation for why the cutoff date was moved.
 - A. Did the circuit court exceed its mandate by moving the cutoff date?
 - B. If not, did the circuit court err substantively in choosing that cut-off date?
 - C. If not, in applying the April cutoff date, did the circuit court rely on an unsupported factual conclusion?
 - D. Did it err in making and declining to correct a math error where it "deducted" more for fees during a period than had been requested for that period?
 - E. In terminating fees after April 22, 2016, the circuit court revoked assessments previously made for the period between April 23, 2016, and September 14, 2016. Did the circuit court err in revoking assessments previously made?
 - F. If not, does the lack of explanation for why the cutoff date is moved, which resulted in a 79% reduction of the requested amount, constitute an abuse of discretion?
- II. In the alternative, does the fees order otherwise err in denying 79 percent of the fees incurred through September 14, 2016?
 - A. Does assessing only \$63,921 for attorneys' fees for more than five years of work in this case conflict with the governing substantive law of North Carolina?
 - B. Is the assessment substantially too low under the South Carolina standard of review?
- III. Post-Judgment Interest Issues
 - A. Did the circuit court err in holding that post-judgment interest would not begin until almost a year after the verdicts?
 - B. Where the now 85-year old Appellants were defrauded fifteen years ago, did the circuit court err in granting Respondent's motion to deposit uncontested funds into the court and terminate the statutory post-judgment interest charges on the uncontested funds, without requiring the funds to be paid promptly to Appellants?
- IV. Should the Court correct the errors, rather than remand for additional discretionary rulings?

Overview

This is the second appeal of the attorneys' fee award in this case. *See O'Shields v. Columbia Auto., LLC (O'Shields I)*, Op. No. 5845, 435 S.C. 319, 867 S.E.2d 446 (Ct. App. 2021), *aff'd*, 443 S.C. 29, 902 S.E.2d 375 (2024).

The circuit court initially denied what it called "the vast majority" of requested fees incurred from June 29, 2011 through July 20, 2016. It did so based on a misconception of North Carolina law. *O'Shields I* corrected that misconception. *O'Shields I* also reversed the denial of travel time, but it affirmed the lower court's cutoff of fees after September 14, 2016, which was based on a peculiarity of North Carolina law.¹ *O'Shields I* further reversed the lower court's holding that Appellants could not receive both attorneys' fees and punitive damages, but affirmed the reduction of the punitive award.

On remand, the circuit court again denies "the vast majority" of the requested fees for work before September 14, 2016. It does so based on another misconception of North Carolina law. It "deducts" all fees incurred after the April 22, 2016, end of trial. North Carolina law does not countenance termination of fees simply because trial ended. The order cites no legal authority for this drastic reduction, which reduces even the fees incurred before September 14 by a whopping 79.25%. This otherwise-unexplained "deduction" violates the laws of both North Carolina and South Carolina.

The circuit court also erroneously ordered a delay of ten and a half months after the verdicts before post-judgment interest may begin accruing, and erroneously allowed Respondent to deposit

¹ North Carolina law requires an "unwarranted refusal" by a defendant to settle the case for a plaintiff to recover attorney fees. The circuit court held that the unwarranted refusal ended when Respondent made a settlement offer on September 14, 2016. *O'Shields I* affirmed that holding.

uncontested funds with the clerk of court and deny the 85-year old Appellants, who were defrauded 15 years ago, statutory interest on those funds as well as the funds themselves.

Finally, as this is the second appeal of this case, the Court should consider correcting the errors itself.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pre-Trial

Fifteen years ago, Respondent defrauded two elderly gentlemen, the Appellants. So found the jury in its verdicts of April 21 and 22, 2016. The fraud occurred on April 1, 2010, when Respondent sold the elderly men an “automobile” that was two halves of previously-wrecked Honda Civics. The two half-cars were improperly welded together.

The fraud took place via an auction in North Carolina. Appellants, then in their seventies, operated a small used car dealership. (R. p. 583, line 10; p. 587, line 6-p. 588, line 16). They are now in their mid-80s, and worry they may receive no compensation while they still live. (Email of 3/20/25, R. p. 2370; Appellants’ proposed order of 3/20/25, R. pp. 2370-72).

Respondent is a franchise dealership with a full service department. (R. p. 421, lines 5-13). It knowingly sold the clipped “Civic” for \$5,200 to Appellants, who were unaware of the car’s true nature.

The initial complaint was filed January 17, 2013, alleging violations of South Carolina law. (R. pp. 48-59). Respondent moved to dismiss on grounds that North Carolina rather than South Carolina law applied. (R. pp. 1181-83). An amended complaint issued on May 9, 2013, alleging violations of North Carolina law (R. pp. 67-77), and a second amended complaint issued on September 13, 2016 (R. pp. 92-100). The final complaint claimed breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, negligence, fraud, and violation of the North Carolina Unfair Trade Practices

Act (NCUTPA), N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 to -89. It sought actual damages, punitive damages, and attorney’s fees, the fee claim being under the NCUTPA. The fee-shifting provision of the NCUTPA, § 75-16.1,² contains an unusual element which ended up putting a wrinkle in the case: A prevailing plaintiff may not be entitled to attorneys’ fees unless “there was an unwarranted refusal” by the defendant “to fully resolve the matter.”

Respondent denied all liability and raised sixteen defenses.

Trial

A bifurcated five-day trial from April 18 to 22, 2016 took place in Columbia, South Carolina. Appellant Roger Whitley testified that he was a retired North Carolina police academy instructor (R. p. 584, lines 12-18), 76 years old at the time of trial, and his partner, Daniel O’Shields, a retired store manager, “lived a similar background.” (R. p. 583, line 10; p. 588, lines 8-16). Roger testified (R. p. 587, line 15-p. 588, line 2), that he and Dan started selling cars from a small lot to help friends, young people, single moms, those that were struggling to get a car.

Undisputed expert testimony was the “car” is so dangerous it should not be on the road (R. p. 513, lines 16-17)—not just because it is two half-cars welded together, but also because the welding was very poorly done (R. p. 477, line 5-p. 514, line 8), and the fuel and brake lines were

² The statute provides,

In any suit instituted by a person who alleges that the defendant violated G.S. 75-1.1, the presiding judge may, in his discretion, allow a reasonable attorney fee to the duly licensed attorney representing the prevailing party, such attorney fee to be taxed as a part of the court costs and payable by the losing party, upon a finding by the presiding judge that:

- (1) The party charged with the violation has willfully engaged in the act or practice, and there was an unwarranted refusal by such party to fully resolve the matter which constitutes the basis of such suit; or
- (2) The party instituting the action knew, or should have known, the action was frivolous and malicious.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1

cut and simply spliced back together with plastic (R. p. 512, lines 8-14).

Videotaped testimony from a deposition taken in Des Plaines, Illinois, was played to the jury. Charles Ecklund testified he had been a National Guardsman when he told Respondent he needed something safe and reliable to commute to his new posting in Alabama, and Respondent sold him the same car (R. p. 105, line 21-p. 106, line 15). Respondent represented the two half-cars to him as “Honda-certified” (R. p. 107, lines 16-17; R. p. 955) with “all of the original parts” (R. p. 107, line 16). When he found out the truth, Respondent “swapped” him into a different car (R. p. 133, line 3-p. 135, line 15; p. 137, lines 3-12). Documents were provided to support his testimony. (R. pp. 954-89).

Four causes of action went to the jury.³ These were contract, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, and violation of the NCUTPA. On each, the jury awarded all the actual damages requested, \$6,645. It did so on April 21, 2016 (R. p. 878, line 15-p. 879, line 23). On April 22, the jury rendered a punitive award of \$2,381,888. (R. p. 933, line 15-p. 934, line 6; R. p. 47).

Post-Trial

All five verdicts were entered as a judgment of the court on April 22, 2016, the final day of trial. (Form 4 Order; R. pp. 2178-84).

Extensive post-trial briefings from both sides included 27 motions, memoranda, responses and replies, spanning 916 pages of the Record on Appeal that had to be mastered. A post-trial motions hearing was held in Manning on July 27, 2016. (R. p. 1071).

Each party’s post-trial filings cited North Carolina authorities stating that NCUTPA attorneys’ fees assessments are based on a multi-factor test that includes hours worked and a

³ The negligence cause of action was dismissed, as the judge felt North Carolina’s economic loss doctrine precluded a negligence claim stemming from a contract. (R. p. 709, lines 11-14).

reasonable rate. (R. pp. 1324-25, 1573-74). No party suggested the assessment here be a percentage of the recovery. The trial court nevertheless announced an assessment of attorneys' fees that was 40% of the damages. (The court directed Appellants to choose between their fraud verdict, with punitive damages, totaling \$53,160, and the NCUTPA verdict with \$21,264 in fees. The \$21,264 fee award is exactly 40% of the \$53,160).

These rulings were announced via an email from the judge's clerk on August 29, 2016. (R. p. 1731). The email also announced reduction of the punitive award to \$46,515, and a requirement that Appellants elect between their punitive award and their statutory attorneys' fees under the NCUTPA. The email directed Respondent to draft the order.

The order was filed December 2, 2016. (R. p. 1). It found the NCUTPA violation was willful and that Respondent had unwarrantedly refused to resolve the whole matter, as the amount Respondent had offered was only enough to resolve one claim but not "to fully resolve the matter which constitutes the basis of [this] suit," as the statute requires. (R. p. 12).

Rather than stating the fee assessment was based on a percentage of the recovery, it stated, "the vast majority of the effort expended in this case was devoted to the recovery of a large punitive damages award and not the pursuit of a claim under the NCUTPA." (R. p. 13). It stated that "After a thorough review of the materials submitted, the Court has identified [only] approximately 218 hours of entries that contain or *could contain* time spent on the NCUTPA claim." (R. p. 16) (emphasis added). Even the remaining 218 hours were further reduced because some entries "relate to large blocks of time, only some of which are attributable to the NCUTPA cause of action," or "are unrelated in any way to the NCUTPA claim." (*Id.*) The order also eliminated "a significant portion of the travel time." (R. p. 16). It stated that only 54.525 hours were properly compensable. (R. p. 17). At the uncontested hourly rate of \$390, 54.525 hours made for exactly the amount the

email had stated, \$21,264. This was for five years of work from June 29, 2011 through July 20, 2016, travel to Des Plaines, Illinois and Charlotte for depositions, a five-day trial, and much of the extensive post-trial briefing. The order did not mention Mr. Fudenberg, nor specify whether any amount was for his work, but he had worked 56.1 hours from April 22 through July 20, 2016 (R. pp. 1544-48) in addition to the 605.9 worked by Mr. Moskos from June 29 of 2011 through July 20, 2016 (R. pp. 1343-56, 1537-40). At the \$390 rate, the requests totaled \$258,180.

Appellants moved to reconsider. (R. pp. 1884-98). They argued that North Carolina law did not allow apportioning fees among interconnected causes of action as the circuit court had done here. (R. pp. 1887-93). Were the court to retain the apportioning, Appellants asked to see the markup that ostensibly eliminated all but 218 hours of the 662 hours requested (R. pp. 1888-89, 1897, 2043), to enable them to challenge that determination. (R. pp. 1889-90). They also asked for an assessment for fees incurred after their previous fee requests were filed. (R. pp. 1894, 1896).

The order on the motion to reconsider, filed March 16, 2017, “denied without further discussion” Appellants’ request to see which entries had been denied as going to the punitive damages claim. (Ord. p. 2; R. p. 25).⁴ It denied their request to undo the apportioning.

It made additional assessments for each attorney. It did so in two stages, first for work the week of the hearing, to which it again applied apportioning, and separately for work between July 28 and September 13, 2016. (R. pp. 26-27). It thus awarded \$4,153.50 for Mr. Fudenberg’s work in that first period, and another \$663 for his work in the second period, totaling \$4,816.50. (*See id.*). The remainder of the \$10,140 assessment (R. p. 28) was for Mr. Moskos’ work, again awarded for two different stages (R. pp. 26-27).

⁴ The trial court had again instructed Respondent to draft the order. (R. p. 2029).

The order further held no fees would be assessed for work after September 14, 2016. It reasoned that Respondent had made an offer on that date and so was no longer “unwarranted[ly] refus[ing] . . . to fully resolve the matter,” as required by the NCUTPA’s fee-shifting provision, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1. (Order pp. 4-5; R. pp. 27-28). Fees incurred through that date totaled \$308,061. (Figure 1).⁵

Appellants filed a final fees motion (R. pp. 2058-64) which was also denied (R. pp. 30-34).⁶

Their fees from June 29, 2011 through June 28, 2017, total \$441,480 (Jan 2025 Order, R.

⁵ The unmultiplied fee requests for work through September 14, 2016 were:

Figure 1

Fee Requests for Work through September 14, 2016			
Hours			R. pp.
452.1	Mr. Moskos 5 years 6/29/2011 through 5/1/2016	\$176,319	1343-1356
153.8	Mr. Moskos 5/2 - 7/20/2016	\$59,982	1537-40
104.9	Mr. Moskos 7/21 - 9/14/2016	\$40,911	1960-66
710.8	Moskos Amounts	\$277,212	
56.1	Mr. Fudenberg 4/22 - 7/20/2016	\$21,879	1544-48
23	Mr. Fudenberg 7/21 - 9/14/2016	\$8,970	1981-85
<u>79.1</u>	Fudenberg Amounts	<u>\$30,849</u>	
789.9	<= Combined Totals =>	\$308,061	

⁶ After filing their final fees motion, Appellants filed a notice of appeal, and explained they did not expect a ruling on that final motion until the remand, but wished to avoid any dispute over whether they had waived their claim by waiting on the appeal to file it. (R. pp. 2094, 2149). Yet the lower court decided to rule on the motion before the appeal concluded, and did so, denying all requested relief. (R. p. 2087) (email from Judge’s clerk stating Judge’s decision to deny the motion and directing Respondent to draft the order); (R. pp. 30-35) (adopting Respondent’s proposed order).

p. 2164). *See also* Figure 2.⁷ The awards, combined, totaled \$31,404. This includes the December 2016 assessment for the work of both Mr. Fudenberg and Mr. Moskos, and the two separate assessments for Mr. Moskos and the two for Mr. Fudenberg in the March 2017 order.

The First Appeal

Appellants noticed their first appeal on April 13, 2017. On August 11, 2021, this Court issued its decision. It reversed the requirement that Appellants elect between their statutory fees and their punitive award, but affirmed the reduction of the punitive damages verdict. 435 S.C. at 340, 344, 867 S.E.2d at 457, 460. It held that the “apportionment” that had accounted for “the vast majority” of the reduction of the initial request (Dec. 2016 Order p. 13; R. p. 13) misconceived North Carolina law. 435 S.C. at 335-36, 867 S.E.2d at 455.

It also held the lower court should eliminate any redundant fees, improper cost, and paralegal fees, and that the circuit court “may—or may not” reduce the award if it found a lack of success on Plaintiffs’ part, but that any such analysis should be impacted by Appellants’ success

⁷

Figure 2
**Fee Requests for Work
After September 14, 2016**

Hours	C. Steven Moskos		R. pp.
62.5	9/15/2016 - 12/15/2016	\$24,375	1966-1970
43.6	12/19/2016 - 3/28/2017	\$17,004	2065-2068
34.1	3/29/2017 - 6/28/2017	\$13,299	2146-2148
140.2	Moskos Amounts	\$54,678	
	Brooks R. Fudenberg		R. pp.
49.2	9/15/2016 - 12/14/2016	\$19,188	1985-1990
99	12/15/2016 - 3/29/2017	\$38,610	2070-2081
53.7	3/30/2017 - 6/28/2017	\$20,943	2137-2142
201.9	Fudenberg Amounts	\$78,741	
342.1	Total	\$133,419	

on the election of remedies issue. *Id.* at 340, 867 S.E.2d at 457. It further directed the circuit court to award fees for counsel’s travel time, *id.*, because “The circuit court excluded [travel] hours, with no legal citation for its decision,” *id.* at 337, 867 S.E.2d at 456.

It held that the lower court may exclude fees incurred after September 14, 2016:

O&W appeals the trial court’s ruling that Midlands had no longer refused to fully resolve the matter when it made a settlement offer to O&W on September 14, 2016. The NCUTPA only provides for attorney’s fees when “there was an unwarranted refusal . . . to fully resolve the matter which constitutes the basis of such suit.”

435 S.C. at 336, 867 S.E.2d at 455 (quoting N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1) (omission in original). “[T]he circuit court did not abuse its discretion in concluding Midlands was no longer unwilling to fully resolve the matter at that point.” *Id.* at 337, 867 S.E.2d at 456. “The circuit court may exclude fees incurred after the date of the September 2016 settlement offer.” *Id.* at 340, 867 S.E.2d at 457. It thus affirmed the lower court’s implicit denial of the \$133,419.00 Appellants had incurred after that date. (Figure 2).

On February 28, 2024, the Supreme Court affirmed.

On Remand

On remand, the lower court issued four orders. This appeal centrally challenges two.

Fees

The first post-remand order, filed January 7, 2025, deducts \$377,559 as having been incurred after *the end of trial* on April 22, 2016 (R. p. 2164). It provides no legal citation for its implicit holding that the NCUTPA allows fees to terminate because trial has ended. It cites nothing in the appellate opinion authorizing an end-of-trial cut-off date. It deducts more for fees incurred after April 22 than had actually been requested for work after that date. It assesses an additional \$42,657 for work before April 22, but revokes \$10,140 previously awarded for work after April

22, making a total of \$63,921 for more than 5 years' work and a five day trial when all fee awards are combined. Like the original order in 2016, it again denies the vast majority of the fee request.

The entire reduction/deduction is due to excluding fees as being incurred after April 22, 2016.⁸ 79% of all fees incurred from 2011 through September 14, 2016 are "deducted."

The order's paragraph dealing with fees states,

The original amount of attorney's fees sought by the Plaintiff is \$441,480. This court first deducts \$109,590 from the original amount for all of Brooks R. Fundenberg's submitted timesheets because, per Mr. Moskos breakdown, Mr. Fundenberg was not involved in this matter prior to or during the trial. Mr. Fundenberg was retained merely in preparation of posttrial motions and appeals. This court also deducts \$267,969 for C. Steven Moskos' time after April 22, 2016 because it was posttrial. Lastly \$21,264, reflecting the amount previously rewarded to plaintiff for attorneys fees, is subtracted from the total amount. After all deductions, the total amount for attorneys fees to be awarded totals \$42,657.

It thus "deducts" \$377,559 (\$109,590+\$267,969) in fees as having been incurred after April 22, 2016. This Court had authorized excluding \$133,419 as incurred after September 14, 2016. The order deducts \$244,140 more. (Figure 1). Appellants seek a supplemental assessment of that \$244,140.

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