**RECEIVED**

**Feb 09 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 13-CP-40-0319  
Appellate Case No. 2025-000801

---

Daniel O'Shields and Roger W. Whitley, a Partnership d/b/a O & W Cars,..... Appellants,

v.

Columbia Automotive Company, LLC d/b/a Midlands Honda,.....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

H. Clayton Walker, Jr. (SC Bar No. 5779)

P.O. Box 340

Charleston, SC 29402-0340

(843) 722.3366

cwalker@hsblawfirm.com

Sarah P. Spruill (SC Bar No. 68337)

P.O. Box 2048

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

the remand in *O&WI*, the prior awards, the degree of success on the merits, and the fees incurred to protect the judgment.

Midlands Honda has sought in good faith to resolve this matter since September 14, 2016 at the latest. O&W has shown no interest in bringing this litigation to an end. For this reason, Midlands Honda asks that the Court affirm the circuit court's award of a reasonable attorney's fee as a valid exercise of discretion.

**C. Portions of the circuit court's original orders relating to attorney's fees were either affirmed or not appealed. Those findings remained in place on remand.**

Certain portions of the circuit court's original orders remained in place on remand. Most notable of these findings was the September 14, 2016 cutoff. In addition, O&W did not appeal the trial court's ruling that its request for additional fees for work performed from May 2, 2016-July 20, 2016 made by way of Plaintiff's Motion Pursuant to Rule 59 and Motion for Supplemental Attorney's Fees filed on December 20, 2016 was not timely.<sup>9</sup> (R. at 25). As a result, that portion of the circuit court's order is law of the case and those fees were not available for award on remand. *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997) (holding unappealed ruling is law of the case).

In addition, the circuit court had already determined that certain elements of the requested fees were improper. For example, the trial court denied fees beyond two hours for the preparation of a generally improper affidavit because the remaining hours claimed by O&W's counsel were "not reasonably expended."<sup>10</sup> (R. at 26-27). To the extent matters were previously decided and

---

<sup>9</sup> The total number of hours subject to this ruling is 153.8. (R. at 1950-58). At \$390/hour, this exclusion totals \$59,982.

<sup>10</sup> Attorney Moskos claimed 60.9 hours in connection with this affidavit. (R. at 26). At \$390/hour, the exclusion amount here was an additional \$22,971.

were either not appealed or were affirmed, those rulings are the law of the case and should not have been included as part of O&W's post-remand fee demand. *See id.*

**D. O&W's arguments relating to the scope of the remand and failure to explain (Argument I(A)(2)) are not preserved because they were not made to the circuit court. Nor did the circuit court err in failing to award O&W an additional \$95,160 in attorney's fees pursuant to Rule 60, SCRCF.**

O&W's arguments in section I(A)(2) of its brief were not made to the circuit court. (*See* 10/4/2024 letter and motion to reconsider, R. at \_\_\_\_). O&W did not ask the circuit court to provide an explanation for its ruling, nor did it ask for clarification of the numbers included, nor did it provide its own breakdown of fees incurred before versus after the trial in this matter prior to its Rule 60, SCRCF motion (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). As such, these arguments are not preserved for this Court's review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (holding that an argument must have been raised to and ruled on by the circuit court to be preserved for appellate review). O&W was so focused on maximizing its attorney's fee award that it provided the circuit court with no assistance in reaching an award on remand.

With respect to the request for an increased fee award pursuant to Rule 60, SCRCF, "Rule 60(a) cannot be used to relitigate facts [or] to change the clear intent of the judgment[.]" James F. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 717-18 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2020). "A clerical error 'is a mistake or omission by a clerk, counsel, judge or printer, *which is not the result of exercise of judicial function.*" *Ex parte Strom*, 343 S.C. 257, 264, 539 S.E.2d 699, 702 (2000) (quotation omitted). Upon receipt of the January 2025 Order, O&W filed an extensive motion to alter or amend, which included nine different grounds. Nowhere in that motion did O&W raise any "mathematical error" as to \$95,160 in fees in the pre-trial period.

The circuit court, in considering the motion to alter or amend, revisited the attorney's fee award and increased it from \$42,657 to \$63,921 in the March 2025 Order. (Order, R. at \_\_\_\_).

This total clarified that no previous awards had been revoked and that some time in the post-verdict phase had been awarded.

O&W did not move to alter or amend that revised amount, nor did it seek any additional rulings about what was included in that amount. Instead, O&W waited until after the ten days allowed to seek relief under Rule 59(e), SCRCF had passed and then sought to relitigate the issue of attorney's fees under Rule 60 by attaching an additional 11 out of context pages from earlier filings and claiming these show a "math error" in its favor of \$95,160. (Motion, R. at \_\_\_\_). This is not a permissible use of Rule 60(a). Nor was there any basis to change the January 2025 Order under Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCF. There has not been any "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect[.]" This was not a default judgment. If O&W had a concern about the figure awarded in the December Order, it could have raised it in its Rule 59(e) motion and was required to do so to preserve an argument for appeal.

## **II. The judgment date is March 16, 2017.**

The judgment date is March 16, 2017. (Judgment listing from Public Index, R. at \_\_\_\_). This date was established by the circuit court in the December 2016 Order ("[e]ntry of final judgment shall take place after the Court rules on Defendant's motion for setoff, as the amount of the final judgment may be effected by that ruling") and March 2017 Order. (R. at 23, 24-29). To the extent O&W disagreed with the circuit court's determination of the judgment date, it was free to appeal the issue in *O&W I*. It did not do so. As such, that date is the law of the case and may not be revisited. *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P.*, 327 S.C. at 241, 489 S.E.2d at 472.

Nor is this argument preserved. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 734. The circuit court stated that the judgment date was March 16, 2017 in its March 2025 Order. O&W did not move to alter or amend this ruling. Thus, O&W's arguments on appeal were not presented to the circuit court, and they should not be considered by this Court.

Further, the circuit court was correct on the merits. “A money decree or **judgment** of a court **enrolled or entered** must draw interest according to law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20 (emphasis added). The statute relates to the judgment, not a verdict. “Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). Here, there was not an enrolled or entered judgment until March 16, 2017, and post-judgment interest did not begin to accrue until that date.

The judgment has since been revised since the remand in *O&W I*. Post-judgment interest will run on the amended amount from the original judgment date, March 16, 2017. *Calhoun v. Calhoun*, 339 S.C. 96, 104, 529 S.E.2d 14, 18–19 (2000). As set forth there,

The case before us is a perfect example of how complicated calculating post-judgment interest can become when a money judgment is modified at several different junctures before reaching finality and why a bright line rule for the accrual of interest needs to be established. While different jurisdictions have come up with creative and complicated methods of resolving the issue, it appears that the simplest way to resolve it is by adopting a rule that when a money judgment is finalized, whether in a lower court or in an appellate court, the interest on that amount, whether it has been modified upward or downward or remains the same, runs from the date of the original judgment.

*Id.* The judgment includes pre-judgment interest through March 16, 2017, and O&W has not appealed that figure in this appeal or in *O&W I*. Although there are cases where the verdict date and the judgment date are the same, the plain language of the statute follows the judgment, not the verdict. For these reasons, the circuit court correctly determined that the judgment date is March 16, 2017.

**III. The circuit court was within its discretion in allowing Midlands Honda to deposit all or part of the judgment amount with the clerk of court and in providing that post-judgment interest would no longer accrue on the deposited amount.**

O&W challenges the circuit court’s order allowing Midlands Honda to deposit all or a part of the judgment amount with the circuit court and providing that post-judgment interest would no longer accrue on the deposited amount. Rule 67, SCRCPC provides,

In an action in which any part of the relief sought is a judgment for a sum of money or the disposition of a sum of money or the disposition of any other thing capable of delivery, a party, upon notice to every other party, and by leave of court, may deposit with the court all or any part of such sum or thing, whether or not that party claims all or any part of the sum or thing. Money paid into the court under this rule shall be deposited as directed by the court in any bank or institution authorized to receive public funds, and shall be withdrawn only upon the check of the clerk of court in favor of the party to whom the order of the court directs.

Orders made pursuant to this rule are subject to an abuse of discretion standard. *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 369 S.C. 150, 153, 631 S.E.2d 533, 535 (2006).

Under Rule 67, “[a] judgment debtor can deposit the amount of the judgment with the court pending appeal and stop the accrual of post-judgment interest at the statutory rate from the date of the deposit.” James F. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 770 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2020); *Russo v. Sutton*, 317 S.C. 441, 444, 454 S.E.2d 895, 896 (1995) (“a judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into the court pending his own appeal prevents further accrual of interest. Such a rule encourages the debtor to pay the judgment and assures the judgment creditor the funds will be available at the conclusion of the appeal.”); *TCC of Charleston, Inc. v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC*, 446 S.C. 202, 227, 918 S.E.2d 699, 712 (Ct. App. 2025) (“Our supreme court has held that ‘a judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into court pursuant to Rule 67 pending his own appeal stops the accrual of interest on the judgment.’”). The deposit may be for “all or any part” of the judgment amount. Rule 67, SCRCPC.

O&W repeatedly refers to the holding in *Russo* as dicta. This is incorrect. The issue in *Russo*, as framed by the South Carolina Supreme Court, was “[D]id Sutton’s deposit of the judgment with the Clerk of Court [“pending the debtor’s own appeal of the judgment”] stop accrual of post-judgment interest?” 317 S.C. at 443, 454 S.E.2d at 896. In answer to that question, the *Russo* court ruled, “we **hold** that to stop accrual of interest, a debtor must comply with the plain language of Rule 67.” 317 S.C. at 444, 454 S.E.2d at 897 (emphasis added). In other words, if a deposit is made in accordance with Rule 67, there is no further accrual of interest. The cases cited by O&W address interest generally and do not have any bearing on the holding in *Russo* and the implications of a deposit under Rule 67.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> This Court recently rejected O&W’s argument in an unpublished opinion, as follows:

As to Wedgewood’s argument the circuit court erred in granting Centex’s motion because [S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20] conflicts with Rule 67, SCRPC, we find no error. See [*S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 369 S.C. 150, 153, 631 S.E.2d 533, 535 (2006)] (“The granting of leave to deposit money with the court pursuant to Rule 67, SCRPC[,] is a matter within the discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion.”); *id.* (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.”); Rule 67, SCRPC (“In an action in which any part of the relief sought is a judgment for a sum of money ..., a party, upon notice to every other party, and by leave of court, may deposit with the court all or any part of such sum or thing ....”); S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20(B) (“A money decree or judgment of a court enrolled or entered must draw interest according to law. The legal rate of interest is equal to the prime rate as listed in the first edition of the Wall Street Journal published for each calendar year for which the damages are awarded, plus four percentage points, compounded annually.”); *Russo v. Sutton*, 317 S.C. 441, 444, 454 S.E.2d 895, 896 (1995) (holding “**a judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into court [pursuant to Rule 67] pending his own appeal prevents further accrual of interest**”); [*Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 330 S.C. 62, 64–65, 496 S.E.2d 884, 885 (Ct. App. 1998)] (affirming the circuit court’s grant of a motion to deposit \$500,000 based on a damages award pursuant to Rule 67 when the defendant had complied with the requirements of Rule 67 and noting that the “judgment debtor’s deposit of funds into the court pending his own appeal prevents further accrual of interest on the judgment”); *Duval v. Heritage Life Ins. Co.*, 339 S.C. 616, 620, 529 S.E.2d 566, 568-69 (Ct. App. 2000) (affirming the trial court’s allowing a judgment debtor to avoid postjudgment interest by depositing the amount of the judgment with the court and stating it was bound by the clear

There is one judgment in this action, the amount of which is challenged by O&W in this appeal. Midlands Honda has tried to resolve this case for years as acknowledged by the circuit court in disallowing fees after September 14, 2016. (R. at 27-28). Midlands Honda further represented that it was prepared to pay the judgment following remand if O&W did not challenge the judgment amount by way of appeal. (March 2025 Order, R. at \_\_\_\_). Midlands Honda has not appealed any of the circuit court’s rulings in the interest of putting this matter to rest. The long history of this case falls entirely on O&W’s shoulders. The request to deposit into court was made in yet another effort by Midlands Honda to bring this matter to a close.

The circuit court, given its familiarity with this case and O&W’s insatiable demands for attorney’s fees, granted the motion for leave after reciting the applicable law and finding that the request was “consistent with the language and spirit of Rule 67” should O&W pursue another appeal. (*Id.*, R. at \_\_\_\_). This ruling is a clear exercise of discretion by the circuit court.<sup>12</sup>

---

precedent in *Russo*); *Zurich Am. Ins. Co. of Ill. v. Palmetto Cont. Servs., Inc.*, 434 S.C. 104, 110, 862 S.E.2d 714, 717 (Ct. App. 2021) (noting that when our state rule is substantially the same as the federal rule, the court can analyze federal case law interpreting the federal rule when deciding issues related to our state rule); [*Renaissance Enters., Inc. v. Ocean Resorts, Inc.*, 334 S.C. 324, 327, 513 S.E.2d 617, 619 (1999)] (“Rule 67 is substantially the same as the federal rule allowing a deposit into court.”); *Zelaya/Cap. Int’l Judgment, LLC v. Zelaya*, 769 F.3d 1296, 1303 (11th Cir. 2014) (“The federal courts ... have overwhelmingly held that post[-]judgment statutory interest stops accruing once the disputed funds are deposited into the court’s registry.”); *Russo*, 317 S.C. at 443, 454 S.E.2d at 896 (explaining the cessation of postjudgment interest under Rule 67 **“encourages the debtor to pay the judgment and assures the judgment creditor the funds will be available at the conclusion of the appeal”**).

*Wedgewood Condo. Ass’n v. Centex Homes*, No. 2023-001150, 2025 WL 2718547, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Sept. 24, 2025) (footnote omitted).

<sup>12</sup> O&W’s arguments relating to the exercise of discretion were not raised to the circuit court and are not preserved for consideration by this Court. O&W did not raise them in its pro-order briefing, nor were they raised in a motion to alter or amend. Therefore, these arguments should not be considered on appeal. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 734.

Given the above, the circuit court's ruling allowing for deposit into court and that interest would cease upon deposit was a reasonable exercise of discretion that is fully supported by applicable law. As such, the ruling should be affirmed.

### **CONCLUSION**

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